1994

Jose Ruiz v. Southern Pacific Transportation Company: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This court has jurisdiction of this appeal from a final order granting summary judgment pursuant to Rule 3, subdivision (a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and Utah Code Annotated section 78-2a-3(2)(k) (1987).

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The primary issue is whether the trial court erred in ruling as a matter of law that the plaintiff, Jose Ruiz, was not employed in commerce at the time of his injury and was, therefore, not entitled to the benefits of the Federal Employers' Liability Act (FELA).

On appeal from summary judgment, an appellate court resolves only legal issues. It determines whether the trial court erred in applying governing law and whether the trial court correctly held that no genuine issue of fact was in dispute. Weese v. Davis County Comm'n, 834 P.2d 1 (Utah. 1992). When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be literally construed in favor of the party opposing the motion. Johnson v. Morton Thiokol, Inc., 818 P.2d 997 (Utah 1991).

When reviewing an order concerning the rights and obligations of parties in a Federal Employers' Liability Act case, the court is bound by federal law interpreting the statute. Chesapeake & Ohio Ry. Co. v. Kuhn, 284 U.S. 44, 46-47, 76 L.Ed. 157, 160, 52 S.Ct. 45 (1931).

The issues concerning employment and coverage by the statute were raised by appellant in his Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. at 243), his Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. at 235) and his Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Reply to Defendant's Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. at 395).

III. DETERMINATIVE STATUTE

The applicable statute, codified as 45 U.S.C. section 51, is reproduced verbatim in the addendum. In relevant part, with emphasis added, it provides that:

Every common carrier by railroad while engaging in commerce between any of the several states . . . shall be liable in damages to any person suffering injury while he is employed by such carrier in such commerce . . . for such injury . . . resulting in whole or in part from the negligence of any of the officers, agents, or employees of such carrier, or by reason of any defect or insufficiency, due to its negligence, in its . . . track, roadbed, works . . . or other equipment.

Any employee of a carrier, any part of whose duties as such employee shall be the furtherance of interstate . . . commerce; or shall, in any way directly or closely and substantially, affect such commerce . . . shall, for the purposes of this Act be considered as being employed by such carrier in such commerce and shall be considered as entitled to the benefits of this Act

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Dispositions Below

This action, brought pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Employers' Liability Act and arising from injuries to plaintiff Jose Ruiz on May 18, 1990, was filed on March 7, 1991 (R. at 1). Defendant Southern Pacific Transportation Company filed a motion for summary judgment on January 22, 1993 on the basis that "plaintiff was not within the scope of his employment at the time he was injured." (R. at 164). On November 5, 1993, before the court ruled on defendant's motion, plaintiff filed a motion for partial summary judgment on the scope of employment issue. (R. at 233).

The court issued a ruling on January 11, 1994 which concluded that, as a matter of law, plaintiff was not in the course of his employment. (R. at 429, see Addendum). The order granting defendant's motion for summary judgment and denying plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment was filed on January 22, 1994. (R. at 436, see Addendum).

Plaintiff filed a motion for new trial with supporting memorandum on February 7, 1994. (R. at 448). The motion was denied by order filed August 8, 1994. (R. at 548). Notice of appeal from both the Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and the Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial was filed on August 31, 1994. (R. at 551). Plaintiff hereby abandons his appeal from the order denying the new trial and will proceed

only as to the court's order granting summary judgment in favor of defendant.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Jurisdictional Basis

1. Defendant Southern Pacific Transportation Company is a common carrier by railroad employed in interstate commerce. (R. at 7).

2. Plaintiff Jose Ruiz was an employee of defendant at the time of the accident. (R. at 7, 166, 287).

3. This is an action for personal injuries by a railroad employee pursuant to the Federal Employers' Liability Act, 45 U.S.C. section 51 et seq. (R. at 287).

Employment Status Prior to 5:00 a.m. on May 18, 1990

4. Plaintiff was a maintenance of way worker assigned to Extra Gang 11 working out of Montello, Nevada. (R. at 252-53, 321-22, 418).

5. Extra Gang 11 was a trailer gang working between various points and could be moved from Ogden, Utah to Sparks, Nevada. (R. at 252-53).

6. Trailer gang members received extra pay for living in trailers and moving to different locations. (R. at 255).

7. The collective bargaining agreement between plaintiff's union and defendant governs rates of pay, hours of service and working conditions for maintenance of way employees. (R. at 289-90, 335).

8. Employees in trailer gangs are assigned to living quarters

owned and maintained by defendant, receive a meal expense, are provided with bedding and bath supplies or in-lieu payment, receive water and ice, may be designated as camp tenders and are expected to maintain their quarters in a clean and sanitary condition. (R. at 370-72).

Designated Assembly Point

9. Plaintiff's foreman and the foreman's supervisor understood the "on-duty point" for Extra Gang 11 to be Montello, Nevada. (R. at 304, 381, 414).

10. Under the collective bargaining agreement, employees' time starts and ends at regular designated assembly points. (R. at 352).

11. When an employee's living quarters is a trailer furnished by defendant, the trailer is established as the employee's headquarters. (R. at 353).

12. An employee's headquarters is the designated assembly point. (R. at 353).

13. Employees are not allowed time while traveling between their homes and designated assembly points. (R. at 367).

14. Under the collective bargaining agreement, plaintiff was entitled to be compensated starting at Montello on the day of his accident. (R. at 418-19).

15. Defendant provided transportation by truck for Extra Gang 11 members from Montello to its work sites. (R. at 167, 288, 304).

16. On the day of the accident, when the crew was to fix railroad tracks at Lakeside, Utah, pursuant to permission from his

foreman, plaintiff was allowed to drive his own vehicle to the work site so that he could drive from there directly home to Ogden, Utah for the weekend. (R. at 167, 288, 431).

17. Extra Gang 11 members traveling in defendant's truck from Montello to Lakeside on May 18, 1990 were considered to be on-duty and were paid overtime from 5:00 a.m. until 7:00 a.m. for the two-hour commute. (R. at 167, 260, 287, 293, 314).

18. Plaintiff's foreman told plaintiff that since he would not be under defendant's supervision, he would not be compensated for his time or reimbursed for the use of his vehicle or gas. (R. at 167).

19. Neither plaintiff's foreman nor the foreman's supervisor were aware of any written policy or documents of defendant stating that plaintiff would be considered off-duty for the trip from Montello to Lakeside in his private vehicle. (R. at 398-99, 412, 415-16).

20. Plaintiff's foreman testified by affidavit that plaintiff understood he would not be compensated for the commute but that it was worth giving up the pay to get home earlier. (R. at 167).

21. Plaintiff has been adjudicated mentally incompetent, functions at the level of a three year old, is not capable of participating in a deposition and is unavailable as a witness. (R. at 283-84).

22. Plaintiff's foreman did not have authority under the collective bargaining agreement to alter plaintiff's starting time for purposes of compensation. (R. at 418).

23. At about 5:00 a.m. on May 18, 1990, plaintiff was dressed for work and advised his foreman that he would be right behind the truck and that they would meet at Lakeside. (R. at 311-13).

24. Plaintiff was injured while driving his private vehicle from Montello in a rollover accident approximately 14 miles from the work site at Lakeside while on a private gravel road owned and maintained by defendant which ran parallel to the railroad tracks. (R. at 7, 166-68, 287, 395).

25. Plaintiff's foreman was responsible to report the time worked by plaintiff. (R. at 289).

26. Plaintiff's foreman was of the opinion that plaintiff had not yet reported for duty at the time of the accident and did not log plaintiff as having performed any work on the day of the accident. (R. at 168, 289).

27. Plaintiff was not compensated for his time on May 18, 1990. (R. at 168).

28. The collective bargaining agreement requires that all claims or grievances be presented in writing within sixty days from the date of the occurrence on which the claim or grievance is based. (R. at 374).

29. Plaintiff suffered a severe injury to his head from the automobile accident on May 18, 1990 but did not have a conservator appointed until July 8, 1991. (R. at 274, 282)

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Applicability and scope of federal law to plaintiff's employment status.

A. The rights and obligations of the parties in a Federal Employers' Liability Act case are controlled by federal law.

B. The term "employed" as used in the Federal Employers' Liability Act of 1908 was intended to describe the conventional relationship of employer and employee.

C. By amendment in 1939 Congress expanded the benefits of the Federal Employers' Liability Act so as to avoid narrow distinctions and to comprehensively expand coverage.

2. Plaintiff's employment status prior to the accident

A. Plaintiff Jose Ruiz was covered by the Federal Employers' Liability Act before leaving his trailer headquarter on the day of the accident.

B. Because plaintiff's trip from his headquarters to the work site was a necessary incident of his employment, he was covered by the act during the entirety of his trip prior to the accident.

C. Because plaintiff was on defendant's private road leading to the actual work site, he was covered by the act during at least that portion of his trip.

3. The trial court's errors.

A. Plaintiff's mode of travel did not remove him from the act's coverage.

B. Neither the willingness of plaintiff to forego pay nor the understanding of his supervisor in that regard removed plaintiff from the act's coverage and benefits.

C. The trial court erred in not ruling as a matter of law, against defendant's motion for summary judgment.

D. At the very least, the trial court erred in not ruling that there were material triable issues of fact.

VII. ARGUMENT

1. Federal law is determinative of the employment status of plaintiff at the time of his injury.

A. Supremacy of federal law

As enacted in 1908 the Federal Employers' Liability Act issue would have been framed as whether plaintiff Jose Ruiz suffered injury while he was "employed" by the defendant in interstate commerce. See 45 U.S. C. § 51, (paragraph 1, Determinative Statute, supra), Act April 22, 1908, ch. 149, § 1, 35 Stat. 65.

The United States Supreme Court has made clear from the earliest days of the statute that "there are weighty considerations why the controlling law should be uniform and not change at every state line." New York Central R.R. Co. v. Winfield, 244, U.S. 147, 149, 61 L.Ed 1045, 1047-48, 37, S.Ct. 780 (1917). The Court restated the point some years later:

[I]n proceedings under that Act, wherever brought, the rights and obligations of the parties depend upon it and applicable principles of common law as interpreted and applied in the Federal courts. . . . That statute, as interpreted by this

Court, is the supreme law to be applied by all courts, Federal and State. (Chesapeake & Ohio Ry. Co. v. Kuhn, 284 U.S. 44, 46-67, 76 L.Ed. 157, 160, 52 S.Ct. 45 (1931).

B. The term "employed"

In an early interpretation, the Supreme Court expressed its "opinion that Congress used the words 'employee' and 'employed' in the statute in their natural sense, and intended to describe the conventional relation of employer and employee." Robinson v. Baltimore & Ohio R.R. Co., 237 U.S. 84, 94, 59 L.Ed 849, 853, 35 S.Ct. 491 (1915).

That conventional relationship as it bore upon the questions of causal connection to employment was expanded upon by the Court a few years later, referring to both English and American cases:

"An accident arises out of the employment where it results from a risk incidental to the employment, as distinguished from a risk common to all mankind, although the risk incidental to the employment may include a risk common to all mankind." . . .

"If it is the normal risk merely which causes the accident, the answer must be that the accident did not arise out of the employment. But if the position which the work must necessarily occupy in connection with his work results in excessive exposure to the common risk, or if the continuity or exceptional amount of exposure aggravates the common risk, then it is open to conclude that the accident did not arise out of the common risk, but out of the

employment." . . .

The basis of these decisions is that, under the specific facts of each case, the employment itself involved peculiar and abnormal exposure to a common peril, which was annexed as a risk incident to the employment. (Cudahy Packing Co. v. Parramore, 263 U.S. 418, 424-25, 68 L.Ed. 366, 370, 44 S.Ct. 153 (1923), citations omitted).

C. The 1939 amendment

In 1939 the act was amended "to cure the evils of hypertechnical distinctions which had developed in over 30 years of FELA litigation which "were replete with very fine distinctions in determining whether an employee was engaged in interstate commerce within the contemplation of the act so as to entitle him to bring suit for damages thereunder for injuries incurred while in the carrier's employ." Southern Pac. Trans. Co. v. Gileo, 351 U.S. 493, 497, 498, 100 L.Ed. 1357, 1363, 1364, 76 S.Ct. 952 (1956).

That amendment added the second paragraph as codified at 45 U.S.C. section 51, so that the "employed/employee" status is now clarified to cover "[a]ny employee . . . , any part of whose duties . . . shall be the furtherance of interstate . . . commerce; or shall, in any way directly or closely and substantially, affect such commerce " See 45 U.S.C. § 51 (paragraph 2, Determinative Statute, supra). Act August 11, 1939, Ch. 685, § 1, 53 Stat. 1404. In the view of the Supreme Court:

Although the amendment may have been prompted by a specific desire to obviate certain court-made rules limiting coverage, the language used goes far beyond that narrow objective. It evinces a purpose to expand coverage substantially as well as to avoid narrow distinctions in deciding coverage. Under the amendment, it is the "duties" of the employee that must furnish or affect commerce, and it is enough if "any part" of those duties has the requisite affect. . . .

"The word 'furtherance' is a comprehensive term. Its periphery may be vague, but admittedly it is both large and elastic." . . .

Similarly, those duties which "in any way directly or closely and substantially affect" interstate commerce in the railroad industry must necessarily be worked out through the process of case-by-case adjudication. This definition and the "furtherance" definition of employment in interstate commerce in the 1939 amendment are set forth in the disjunctive. In some situations, they may overlap. (Reed v. Pennsylvania R.R. Co., 351 U.S. 502, 506, 507, 100 L.Ed. 1366, 1374, 76 S.Ct 958 (1956)).

The balance of this section of the brief will examine that "case-by-case adjudication" and define the "periphery" in situations which bear on and control the issue of plaintiff's employment status at the time of the accident.

2. Plaintiff was "employed" under the act prior to and at the time of his injury.

A. Plaintiff was "employed" while in his trailer.

(1) The Cases

In Chicago M., St.P. & P. R.R. Co. v. Kane, 33 F.2d 866 (9th Cir. 1929), plaintiff was an extra gang member living in company quarters. Prior to the breakfast hour preceding the scheduled work day, he was killed while going from the bunk to the toilet. The court held that plaintiff was employed in interstate commerce and covered by the act. Although "he had not yet lifted a pick or stuck a shovel into the ground . . . his employment was definite, and the nature and place of his service for the day was clearly understood." Id. at 868. Of further significance is the prescient comment of the dissent:

As I understand the majority opinion, a railroad employee who happens to sleep and take his meals in a section house, bunk house, or car furnished by the railway company on its right of way is continuously employed in interstate commerce, even during the hours devoted to sleep. If this be true, a large number of railway employees who make their houses, temporarily or permanently, in quarters furnished by railway companies on their rights of way, are continuously employed in interstate commerce, even though their time of actual employment does not exceed eight or ten hours per day. (Id. at 870).

That this was indeed the law was demonstrated some years later in an opinion by Judge Learned Hand. In Mostyn v. Delaware L. & W. R.R. Co., 160 F.2d 15 (2d Cir. 1947), plaintiff was one of a gang of track workers housed and fed in bunk cars. Upon returning to his bunk car after a day off and personal errands in town, he opted to sleep outside because of the verminous condition

of his bunk. He chose a poor place to sleep and lost a foot to a passing railroad car. The railroad argued that plaintiff was not employed under the act when he went to town and that he did not resume employment upon his return. In upholding the jury's verdict for plaintiff, Judge Hand replied:

[A]lthough Mostyn was not "employed" on Friday while he was in town, when he came back that night to sleep he was as much and as little "employed," as he would have been had he been working during the day.
. . .

It seems to us that when a railroad provides shelter or food or both for its employees, and they are using the accommodations so provided to prepare themselves for their work, or to rest and recuperate, they must be regarded as in its "employ." Unless that is true, we are driven back to including only the very work itself with the addition of going to or away from it. . . . [W]e hold that, had Mostyn been sleeping in one of the "bunk cars," he would have been in the "employ" of the railroad. (Id. at 17-18).

In another track employee case, Casso v. Pennsylvania R.R. Co., 219 F.2d 303 (3d Cir. 1955), plaintiff was returning to his bunk car living quarters after a day off in town. In upholding a verdict for plaintiff, against defendant's argument that plaintiff was not back in his employment until he returned to the bunk car, the court said:

We do not think that the ascertainment of when a man is under the protection of the Act is to be determined by any such mechanical rule as the defendant contends. This is no baseball game in which the runner must touch base in order to be safe. . . .

[T]he trial court was right in telling the jury that this man, when injured, was sufficiently in the course of his employment to have the benefit of the Act if his case otherwise came within it. (Id. at 306).

Among cases cited in support of the proposition, (id. at 306 n.2), was Atlantic Coastline R.R. v. Meeks, 30 Tenn.App 520, 208 S.W.2d 355 (1947), in which an employee, after spending a day in town, returned to his bunk car and was injured by an exploding oil tank. The court held that he was in the scope of his employment.

(2) Factual Application

Thus in this case in which plaintiff was assigned to living quarters owned and maintained by defendant, received expenses and supplies from defendant, was subject to designation as a camp tender and had responsibilities for his quarters (R. at 370-72, Statement of the Facts, supra, para. 8), it cannot be doubted that plaintiff was "employed" by defendant for purpose of the act at and prior to the time when his foreman came to plaintiff's trailer prior to departure for the work site.

B. Plaintiff was "employed" when injured enroute to the work site

(1) The Cases Finding Coverage

In North Carolina R.R. Co. v. Zachary, 232 U.S. 248, 58 L.Ed. 591, 34 S.Ct. 305 (1914), an important subsidiary issue was whether the deceased plaintiff, killed on defendant's premises by a passing engine, was on a personal errand, rather than on the company's business, when he headed toward his off-premises boarding house just prior to departing on his run. To the court it was "clear that the man was still 'on duty,' and employed in commerce" at the time. Id. at 260, 58 L.Ed. at 596.

The principle was shortly thereafter extended to an employee killed on railroad premises by an engine at the close of his work day. The Court held:

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