1994

# Jose Ruiz v. Southern Pacific Transportation Company: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

B. Traversing the Work Site Cases

Plaintiff next relies on a line of cases that pertain to the factual situation where an employee is injured on or near his employer's property in order to perform the specific job to which he is assigned. These cases are different from the commuter cases because the employee is injured after arriving at the general area where his work is to be performed, and it is found that the employee's being in the area in which he is injured was necessary in order for the employee to get to precisely where he needed to be in order to accomplish his work.

These cases are referred to herein as "traversing the work site" cases. See North Carolina Railroad Co. v. Zachary, 232 U.S. 248, 260 (1914) (fireman who already had reported for duty and had prepared his employer's engine for a trip on which he soon would be leaving remained within his employment when injured while walking within the employer's yard from the engine to an unknown location, but assumed to be an adjacent boarding house, of which there was no evidence to indicate that he was on a personal errand as opposed to performing his duty to his employer); Erie Railroad Co. v. Winfield, 244 U.S. 170 (1917) (engineer who was injured when walking away from his employer's engine in his employer's yard after performing his duties, at the close of his shift, still was within his employment); Virginian Railway Co. v. Early, 130 F.2d 548 (4th Cir. 1942) (machinist who, after parking his car on his employer's lot, reported early to the shops where he worked then proceeded to walk in his employer's yard to a company endorsed lunch room established for the convenience of the employees, in order to get a cup of coffee, and was then injured in the yard on the way back to the shops to perform his duties was within his employment); Lukon v. Pennsylvania Railroad Co., 131 F.2d 327, 329 (3rd Cir. 1942) (laborer whose gang quit one-half hour early so that they could return their employer's tools to the tool house and who, without any tools, walked with his gang toward the tool house along the employer's right-of-way, which was in the same direction of his home and which was the course he usually took to leave his employer's premises, was

within his employment when injured while on the right-of-way)<sup>2</sup>; Morris v. Pennsylvania Railroad Co., 187 F.2d 837, 841 (2nd Cir. 1951) (employee who, after entering his employer's yard, had to cross over various railroad tracks to get to where he needed to be to report for work and perform his duties was within his employment when killed in the yard); Carter v. Union Railroad Co., 438 F.2d 208 (3rd Cir. 1971) (trainman who, after parking in a lot provided by his employer, was injured while walking across property owned by a third party, which the employer knew to be necessary in order for its employees to get to the shanty where they were to do their work, was within his employment); Caillouette v. Baltimore & Ohio Chicago Terminal Railroad Co., 705 F.2d 243 (7th Cir. 1983) (switchman who had arrived at his employer's yard and was injured when walking toward the carmen's shanty in order to call the yard master to request that an engine be sent to take him to the other end of the yard where he was to work that day was within his employment).<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup>The Third Circuit in the dissent of the more recent case of Sassaman v. Pennsylvania Railroad Co., 144 F.2d 950 (3rd Cir. 1944), discussed supra in Point II, confirmed that the plaintiff in Lukon was "still on the section on which he was ordinarily employed" when he was injured, yet because it was possible, although not customary, for the plaintiff to have taken another route home other than on his employer's property, the dissent at least thought the Lukon case had been overruled by the Sassaman case.

<sup>3</sup>These cases often refer to, as does Plaintiff, two non-FELA Supreme Court cases, Bountiful Brick Co. v. Giles, 276 U.S. 154 (1928) and Cudahy Packing Co. v. Parramore, 263 U.S. 418 (1923). In both of these cases, the imposition of liability under the Utah Workmen's Compensation Act was affirmed because there was found to be a "causal connection" between the injury and the employment. 276 U.S. at 158; 263 U.S. at 423-24. In both cases, the employee was killed while crossing over railroad tracks adjacent to their work places which they necessarily had to cross in order to get to where they needed to be to perform their

In all of these traversing the work site cases, as opposed to the commuter cases, the employee was not pursuing his own interest, nor was he exercising his own choice as to the means by which he got to or from work. Rather in all of these cases, the employee already had arrived at work and was required by his employer to go in a particular manner to the place where the injury occurred as part of or in preparation for the performance of his duties. Clearly, what the employee is doing in these cases is for the benefit of his employer because it is incidental to the performance of his required duties.

These cases provide no help to Plaintiff under the facts of record. Ruiz left the camp site to pursue his own objective, as discussed above with respect to Plaintiff's work camp cases, and he had not yet arrived at the work site before he drove his car off of the road. He was 14 miles away from where he was to report to his supervisor and obtain his assignment for the day. He had not yet reported to work, and he was not traversing the work site to get to the exact location where he was to perform his duties for Defendant on that day.

---

duties for their employers. Hence, although only a "causal connection" between the injury and the employment was held to be sufficient under the state compensation act, the analysis still required, as do the FELA cases set forth in the text, that the injury resulted from a risk that the employee necessarily had to take and not a risk the employee chose to, but did not have to, take in order to perform his duties for his employer. 276 U.S. at 159 ("it was necessary for the employees, in order to get to the place of work, to cross the tracks, and they were in effect invited by the employer to do so"); 263 U.S. at 426 ("Parramore could not, at the point of the accident, select his way. He had no other choice than to go over the railway tracks in order to get to his work, and he was in effect invited by his employer to do so."). In the case at bar, Ruiz was invited to travel to the work site with his gang in Defendant's truck, but he voluntarily chose to drive his own car instead.



The fact that Plaintiff was on Defendant's property at the time of his accident is not significant. The traversing the work site cases do not find the employee to be within his employment because he is on his employer's property. Many of the employees were on their employer's property in the commuter cases, discussed in Point II, and the employees in the Wottle, Fowler and Rogers cases, discussed above in this point, were on their employer's property at the time of injury, yet they were found not to be within the course of their employment at the time. Conversely, in the Carter, Bountiful Brick and Cudahy Packing cases the employees were found to be within the course of their employment when not on their employer's property. Obviously, the very nature of the traversing the work site cases most likely will place the employee on his employer's property at the time of injury, and at least very close to where the employee's duties are to be performed. Nevertheless, contrary to Plaintiff's suggestion, whether or not an employee is on his employer's property is not a determinative factor in the analysis of whether the employee is within the course of his employment at the time of injury. See also Restatement (Second) of Agency § 229 cmt. c (1958) ("the fact that the acts are done upon the master's premises or with his instrumentalities is . . . not conclusive").

The law specifically provides that merely being on an employer's property in order to get to work, without the employer's control and the benefit to the employer that makes the reason for being on the property incidental to the employment, is not sufficient to bring the conduct within the course of

employment. In Aldredge v. Baltimore & Ohio Railroad Co., 20 F.2d 655 (8th Cir. 1927), cert. denied, 275 U.S. 550 (1927), for example, dismissal of an action was affirmed where the plaintiff, a switchman, was injured after he left his home to go to work and while walking along his employer's right-of-way. The court found the facts as follows:

On the night of the accident he left his home to go to his place of work. For his own convenience, he chose a route along the right of way of defendant instead of along the city streets. Both routes were feasible. He was under no orders until he reached his place of work. This right of way was not a railroad yard through which he must pass to reach his place of work. While on the right of way and still a quarter of a mile from his place of work, he met with the accident. (Id. at 658-59.)

On these facts, the court held, "we reach the unavoidable conclusion that plaintiff was not engaged in interstate commerce at the time of the accident. He was not on duty; he was simply going to a place where he would be on duty." Id. at 60.

Likewise, in Symonski v. Central Railroad Co., 131 A. 628 (N.J. 1926), aff'd, 135 A. 921 (1927) a judgment in favor of recovery was reversed because the injury occurred while the plaintiff chose to walk along the defendant's right-of-way and tracks to get to the train station from where he would then travel to the roundhouse where he was employed to perform his duties. The plaintiff chose this route rather than to approach the station by way of stairs provided by the defendant. Hence, just as in the commuter cases, the plaintiff's exercise of his own choice and the defendant's lack of control prevented the plaintiff from being able to recover under the FELA, even though

the employee was injured while on his employer's property. Id. at 629-30.

In the instant action, Ruiz had a way to get to the work site that was under the control of the Defendant. He could have travelled with the rest of his gang in Defendant's truck, as he had done prior to the accident. Had he done so on the day of the accident, Defendant could have assured his safety through, among other things, its maintenance of the truck, control of the speed it was driven and required use of seat belts. However, Plaintiff chose not to take advantage of the transportation provided by Defendant. Instead, for his own personal reasons, he chose to take his own car at his own time, and he crashed before he arrived at the work site. By driving his own car, Ruiz was not pursuing the interests of the Defendant. He was pursuing his own interests. This is not a case where Ruiz already had arrived at work and was necessarily traversing the work site to get to the exact location where he was to work that day. Plaintiff was exercising his own choice with respect to the manner and means by which he travelled to the work site.

C. On Call Case

Plaintiff also cites to Temple v. Southern Pacific Transportation Co., 164 Cal. Rptr. 780 (Cal.App.1 Dist. 1980) which is an "on call" case. In Temple, a brakeman, who was on a layover, was involved in a car accident when responding to a call from his employer to return to duty. After his period of rest, he was required by his employer to be available to report back to work when called by the dispatcher. His time was not his own. Id. at 782. Because the employee's acts, at the time of the

accident, were in response to the orders of his employer and were producing the result desired by his employer, it was held that an issue of fact existed as to whether he was within the course of his employment at the time. Id. at 783-83.

Ruiz was not on call to respond to his employer's needs when driving his car for his own purposes, nor was he responding to an order of his employer. If he had been responding to his employer's orders rather than his own wishes, he would have submitted himself to the control and direction of his supervisor at the camp site with the rest of the work gang rather than take his own car and leave at a time of his own choosing. Indeed, Plaintiff's choice as to the time when he left the work camp was directly related to the speed at which he would have to travel to catch up with the company truck by the time it reached the work site. Defendant had no interest in Plaintiff leaving latter than the others in order to go to the work site, nor did Defendant have any interest in Plaintiff speeding in order to get to the work site on time. As the lower court found, Ruiz was no more producing the desired result of his employer when driving his car than any commuter travelling to a work site. It is significant in supporting this conclusion that at the time of injury Plaintiff could not be contacted or controlled by Defendant in any way, and Plaintiff understood he would not be paid while acting on his own time for his own benefit.

Plaintiff has not refuted the legal authority of the commuter cases. He only has argued for the applicability of camp site cases, traversing the work site cases and an on call case to support his position. These cases, although endorsing similar

principles of choice and lack of control as found in the commuter cases, are factually distinguishable and provide no support for Plaintiff upon the undisputed facts of record. There is no factual dispute that Plaintiff voluntarily chose to drive his car for his own benefit. Defendant received no benefit from Plaintiff's conduct, and Defendant had no opportunity to control or direct Plaintiff until he arrived at the work site. Plaintiff, however, crashed his car 14 miles before he arrived at the work site. As a matter of law, Plaintiff cannot be found to have been within the course of his employment when he drove his car off the road before he arrived at where he was to work, and the summary judgment granted below should be affirmed.

#### POINT IV

##### NO ERROR WAS COMMITTED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

The district court's ruling is consistent with and supported by FELA case law, as discussed above. There is no conflicting case authority. Plaintiff merely misconstrues the law for his own benefit.

Contrary to Plaintiff's contentions of error, there is uncontroverted FELA authority for finding an employee to be outside the course of his employment when he voluntarily chooses to commute to work in his own vehicle on his own schedule and for his own benefit, during which time he was not furthering his employer's business and was not under the control or direction of his employer. Although no case is exactly on point factually, the commuter cases discussed in Point II, supra, provide the appropriate analytical framework and the closest analogy. These cases focus on the employee's exercise of his own choice and

conduct for his own benefit and the employer's lack of control and supervision. In fact, although factually distinguishable, even the reasoning of the other FELA cases relied upon by Plaintiff support the ruling of the lower court. Hence, summary judgment is completely in harmony with FELA principles and case law.

Plaintiff also suggests, without any legal authority, that the district court could not hold upon the facts before it that Plaintiff voluntarily took himself out of the course of his employment when he substituted personal transportation for company transportation for personal reasons, and removed himself from the control and supervision of his employer.<sup>4</sup> Plaintiff did not elect to take his car to the work site for the benefit of the Defendant and this election in no way benefitted the Defendant. In reality, the contrary is true. Plaintiff's voluntary election resulted in his leaving the camp site later than his co-workers. Had Plaintiff travelled at the same speed of those travelling under the control of the Defendant, the Plaintiff's choice would have made it impossible for him to have been at the work site as early as the rest of his work gang. Defendant has no interest in its employees pursuing personal objectives that make them late for work or for its employees to speed in order to get to work because they have pursued their own objectives. It is ludicrous for Plaintiff to argue that, in essence, no matter what he did for personal reasons he could not

---

<sup>4</sup>Before the court below, Plaintiff argued that 45 U.S.C. § 152 prevented him from taking himself out of the course of his employment. Plaintiff has abandoned this argument on appeal for very sound reasons. See R. 479-81.

remove himself from the course of his employment. The Wottle, Loya, Fowler and Rogers cases, discussed above, expressly negate this argument.<sup>5</sup> There are no cases supporting Plaintiff's argument.

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